RECEIVED

11-14-2014

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2013AP000591

ONEIDA SEVEN GENERATIONS CORPORATION and GREEN BAY RENEWABLE ENERGY, LLC,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

CITY OF GREEN BAY,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

Appeal from a Final Judgment of the Circuit Court of Brown County, the Honorable Marc A. Hammer Presiding, Circuit Court Case No. 2012CV002263 Reversed by Court of Appeals, District III

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS

Michael B. Apfeld, #1016749 Eric J. Wilson, #1047241 Dustin B. Brown, #1086277

Attorneys for Oneida Seven Generations Corporation and Green Bay Renewable Energy, LLC

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

I'm shocked, *shocked* to find that gambling is going on in here!

Captain Louis Renault, *Casablanca*

On October 16, 2012, the City of Green Bay's Common Council, declaring itself shocked, shocked to find that a proposed hydrocarbon-burning, electricity-generating facility it had approved over 18 months earlier would actually produce some emissions, revoked the conditional use permit (or "CUP") granted to Oneida Seven Generations Corporation and Green Bay Renewable Energy, LLC (for the sake of brevity, "OSGC"). According to the City, OSGC had misled it into thinking that the proposed facility would produce no emissions whatsoever (or, as it now argues, that any emissions would contain no toxins whatsoever), and that it would not have any "stacks" through which emissions might be vented from the facility.

The problem is, just two weeks before revocation, the City's Plan Commission—the very body before which the

alleged misrepresentations had been made in 2011—had investigated the accusations at the Common Council's request and concluded unanimously that it had *not* been misled, about emissions or any other aspect of the project. To the contrary, the Commission knew about emissions, toxins, and stacks and had concluded that the various layers of state and federal regulations and oversight provided protection enough. The Court of Appeals, after engaging in a meticulous examination of the record, decided that no reasonable person could possibly have believed that OSGC had misrepresented anything. And under those circumstances, this Court's own, long-established doctrine (recently reinforced by the Legislature) establishes that an applicant's rights in a project are vested and cannot be altered.

Undaunted by these considerable obstacles, the City defends its actions with a variety of decidedly novel arguments.

According to the City, it has as much discretion to revoke the

CUP as it did to issue it in the first instance, even though, in reliance on the CUP (and at substantial expense), OSGC had obtained all other necessary local, state and federal permits in the interim. The conclusion of its own Plan Commission that it had not been misled was a "mere recommendation," warranting only a single footnote in its brief. Moreover, according to the City, if any statement attributable to OSGC ripped out of context could possibly be construed as false, the "substantial evidence" standard of review should have prevented the Court of Appeals from examining other parts of the record to determine the speaker's true meaning. And should this Court think otherwise, the City argues, the very absence of support in the record for its actions should earn it a remand and a second kick at the cat.

If the foregoing suggests that OSGC is outraged at the City's position, that is because it is. As the Court of Appeals perceived, the City's decision to revoke the CUP was a response

to political pressure; its claim to have been misled is a smokescreen in which no reasonable person could possibly believe. Just as bad, the legal principles the City now urges this Court to adopt would eviscerate the "vested rights" doctrine and transform judicial review into a meaningless exercise.

This Court, we respectfully submit, should examine the entire record. If it does, it will come to the same conclusion as the Court of Appeals: there were no misrepresentations here.

OSGC has a vested right to proceed as long as the facility complies with City ordinances and state and federal emissions standards, as the CUP required. It does comply, and so this Court should affirm.

RESPONDENTS' COUNTER-STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW:

OSGC respectfully suggests that the following articulation

better represents the issues presented by this appeal:

- 1. Did the City have unfettered discretion to revoke the CUP once OSGC relied on the CUP to its detriment? If not, under what conditions may the City revoke the CUP, and what standards govern judicial review of that revocation? (Addressed in Section I, below)
- 2. Does the record contain substantial evidence that OSGC materially misrepresented the nature of the proposed facility in obtaining the CUP? (Addressed in Section III, below)
- 3. In answering that question, does the "substantial evidence" standard of review require the Court of Appeals to ignore portions of the record that explain or provide the context for the statements allegedly constituting the "misrepresentations"? (Addressed in Section II, below)
- 4. If, as the Court of Appeals concluded, the record contains no substantial evidence of misrepresentations, is there any reason to remand the case to the City for further proceedings? (Addressed in Section IV, below)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is a certiorari action by OSGC, seeking reversal of the City's decision to revoke the CUP. The revocation occurred more than 18 months after the City originally issued the CUP, more than a year after the City issued a building permit, and nearly a year after state and federal agencies issued environmental approvals and permits for the facility.

The Proposed Facility

On February 4, 2011, in an effort to diversify its tribes' economic development, Cert.Rec. at 153,¹ OSGC applied to the City of Green Bay for a conditional use permit (or "CUP") to construct a so-called "waste-to-energy" facility to convert

¹ All written parts of the certiorari record, found at R. 25 and 26, are included in Petitioner's Supplemental Appendix. For purposes of clarity, citations will be directly to the existing Bates page numbers of that record (*e.g.*, "Cert.Rec.").

garbage into electricity. *Id.* at 2-152.² The key to this conversion is a process known as "pyrolysis gasification," in which waste is turned into gas by heating it at very high temperatures in an enclosed, oxygen-starved chamber. *Id.* at, *e.g.*, 7-8, 109-10, 231-32, 374-75.³ The process produces a gaseous fuel ("syngas," similar to natural gas) that, once scrubbed, is used not only to sustain the pyrolysis reaction but to run electrical generators. *Id.* The municipal waste fed into the facility is reduced in volume by 80% or more, the residue consisting of ash or "char." *Id.* at, *e.g.*, 108, 154, 232, 459-60.

The pyrolysis gasification process itself occurs in a sealed chamber; it does not produce air emissions. *Id.* at 7, 109, 401, 403. However, the generators that run on the syngas produced

² A conditional use permit is, in essence, a special zoning classification, which allows owners to use property in a manner that does not fit into typical zoning classifications. *See* Green Bay Municipal Code § 13-205.

³ As both the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources and the U.S. Department of Energy confirm, this process is *not*, as its critics here claimed, "incineration." Cert.Rec. at 266, 565-66; *see also* 42.

by the pyrolysis, like all combustion engines, do produce emissions. Nevertheless, the net environmental benefits are significant. Per kilowatt, electricity generated by syngas produces fewer pollutants than fossil fuels while at the same time reducing landfilling of the municipal solid waste and the air emissions associated with such landfills (including not only the methane produced by decomposing waste but the vehicular emissions from trucking the waste to ever-more-distant landfills). *E.g., id.* at 43, 108, 109-10, 120, 126, 154, 368, 456.

The Proposed Site

In late 2010, OSGC representatives met with staff from the City's Economic Development and Planning Departments regarding their plan. *Id.* at 1, 725. Together, OSGC and City staff evaluated a number of possible sites within the City for the facility. *Id.* at 725. Ultimately, OSGC selected a site on Hurlbut Street, near the mouth of the Fox River.

The site in question is intensely industrial. It is located in an area zoned "General Industry," a classification that "accommodates high-intensity industry and often includes very large structures," including "solid waste disposal facility[ies]" to dispose of garbage or trash by "incineration, or any other similar means." *Id.* at 417.

Bordered on the south by I-43, the site is flanked in all other directions by: a city yard waste disposal site; a dredge material disposal site; concrete and asphalt plants; a construction facility; petroleum tank farms; and the Pulliam coal-fired power plant. *Id.* at 153, 241, 417, 421-22. Not surprisingly, the area is sparsely populated; the nearest residential zoning is a half-mile away. *Id.* at 246, 417.

The land itself has historically been used for waste disposal, primarily dredge materials. *Id.* at 419. The area is described by various governmental agencies as "highly

disturbed," "altered beyond restoration," and "mildly contaminated"; it is dominated by invasive vegetation, not consistently inhabited by wildlife, and has no known archeological or historical value. *Id.* at 242-45, 417, 471, 474-76.

OSGC's Disclosures

OSGC's application for the CUP, *id.* at 2-152, explained the nature of the project and contained extensive information about potential environmental impacts, especially air emissions. For example, it noted that the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources ("DNR") would need to issue an air permit before construction could begin, and that "application and review of this permit will likely need to address air quality impacts . . . as well as emissions of hazardous air toxic compounds[.]"⁴ *Id.* at 25.

⁴As is typical, detailed projections of emissions levels were developed later as part of the DNR air permitting process. *Id.* at 326-327, 892.

The application also noted that the facility would need to report actual air emissions to the DNR on an annual basis, and that DNR would maintain oversight and enforcement responsibility over the facility's operations. *Id.* In a 50-page section titled "Emissions," OSGC provided the City with detailed information about potential air emissions from similar technologies, including a lengthy report by a university engineering department. *Id.* at 26-76.

That report and other OSGC submissions disclosed not only that syngas was made up of hydrocarbons including methane, ethane, propane, butane, and pentane, *id.* at 8, 111, but that emissions from its combustion included nitrogen oxides, sulfur dioxides, mercury, and dioxin/furans (albeit in significantly smaller amounts than fossil fuels). *Id.* at 43-71, 126. The technology is beneficial, the submissions explained, because it *reduces* emissions associated with landfilling municipal solid

waste and makes air cleaner on a *net* basis when such material is used as a fuel source for this project. *Id.* at 27; *see also* 42-44.

City planning staff carefully reviewed all of the information and prepared a report to the Plan Commission regarding the project. The report noted that OSGC had provided City staff with "considerable information . . . detailing the gasification process and its resulting impact." Id. at 155. It explained that OSGC would have to obtain an air permit and operations permit from DNR. *Id.* at 156. The report concluded that the "proposed use is an appropriate land use for the subject site," and recommended approval of the CUP, subject to certain conditions, including its compliance with "[a]ll Federal and State regulations and standards related to the proposed use including air and water quality." Id.

The Plan Commission Recommends Approval.

On February 21, 2011, the Plan Commission, which had already studied OSGC's materials, discussed the project at its

regularly scheduled meeting. *Id.* at 160-66; R. 26, Audio CD 1; see also Cert.Rec. at 895. After City planning staff reviewed OSGC's application and the report that staff had prepared, representatives from OSGC addressed the Commission. Id. at 160-65. They first presented a pre-recorded slideshow explaining how the facility would work. *Id.* at 160-161. As part of the presentation, OSGC mentioned the need for air permits and promised that the facility would "meet or exceed" federal standards for safety, emissions, and pollutants. R. 26, Audio CD 1 at 16:22, 21:50, 22:16, 48:05. The slideshow further noted that "there are no smokestacks such as those associated with coal-fired power plants." Id. at 22:10 (emphasis added).

Plan Commission members then engaged OSGC in a lengthy question-and-answer session. Cert.Rec. at 160-66. A number of the Plan Commission's questions pertained to air emissions. OSGC explained how the gasification process itself

takes place in an "enclosed" system, in that no oxygen is allowed to enter the chamber. *Id.* at 160-161; R. 26, Audio CD 1, 20:45. One commission member noted that the technology was "less polluting" than other processes. *Id.* at 26:00. Another recognized that OSGC's submissions described emissions from similar technologies, and that those emissions included certain chemicals. *Id.* at 43:45. In response, an engineer working for OSGC stated that there would be no chemicals from OSGC's facility because they would be "scrubbed out"—a reference to the facility's "Venturi scrubbers" that would clean the gas before it is piped to the generators. *Id.* However, the contractor also noted that there would be dioxin emissions. *Id.*; see also Cert.Rec. at 164 (misspelled as "diosons"). The contractor then clarified that the chemical emissions would be "acceptable" and "under EPA/DNR standards"—that is, there would be chemical emissions but, because of pollution control devices, none would

exceed the safety thresholds designated by the environmental regulatory agencies. R. 26, Audio CD 1 at 47:20; Cert.Rec. at 164.

The Commission voted unanimously to recommend approval of the CUP, including the condition that the facility comply with all federal and state environmental regulations.

Cert.Rec. at 166.

The Council Approves the CUP.

On March 1, 2011, the Common Council met in open session and, for over an hour, considered the Plan Commission's recommendation. *Id.* at 171-72; *see generally* R. 26, Audio CD 1.

OSGC presented the same pre-recorded slideshow that explained that the facility would "meet or exceed" federal standards for safety, emissions, and pollutants. R. 26, Video 1 at 1:11:00. In follow-up remarks, OSGC made it "clear for the record" that "[a]ny emissions that come off the generator . . . will be subject to WDNR and EPA approval." *Id.* at 1:14:53.

Part of the OSGC presentation was a slide titled "Emissions." *Id.* at 1:18:10. On that slide, a bullet point explained that "[t]here will be no smokestacks *such as those associated with coal-fired power plants." Id.* at 1:18:10 (emphasis added). In explaining that slide, an OSGC representative said, "There are no smokestacks. For those of us in Green Bay, we know what that means." *Id.* In other words, there would be nothing on the facility like the towering smokestacks familiar to Green Bay residents on the Pulliam power plant and local paper mills.⁵

During the question and answer session, one alderperson, speaking with reference to OSGC's remark about "no smokestacks," expressed his understanding that the facility

_

⁵ Recent minutes of the Green Bay Plan Commission indicate the stack at the Pulliam plant is 377 feet tall. *See* http://greenbaywi.gov/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/GBPC-Minutes-042114.pdf. The eventual height of the tallest stack at the proposed OSGC facility would have been 35 feet above ground level, only a few feet above the roofline. *See infra* at 20.

would have generators that would produce exhaust; OSGC confirmed this. *Id.* at 1:32:18 (emphasis added). One member of the public with professional experience in air emissions who had been asked by an alderperson to look into the matter spoke extensively about his research into potential emissions from the proposed facility and compared them favorably to the nearby Pulliam coal-fired power plant. *Id.* at 1:46:00.

After the public had had an opportunity to comment, the alderperson representing the district where the facility would be located expressed the belief that the environmental concerns raised by his constituents would be addressed by the overlay of regulatory review required for the facility. *Id.* at 1:51:30.

Thereafter, all but one Council member voted to approve the CUP. Cert.Rec. at 172.

As the Plan Commission had recommended, the CUP as approved was conditioned on the facility complying with "all

other regulations of the Green Bay Municipal Code not covered under the conditional-use permit, including the City building code, building permits, standard site plan review and approval," as well as with "[a]ll Federal and State environmental standards related to the proposed use including air and water quality." *Id.* at 198. The CUP imposed no separate limits on either emissions or stacks.

OSGC Obtains All Necessary Permits.

After obtaining the CUP, OSGC embarked on an extensive review and permitting process.

On July 12, 2011, DNR determined that the project would meet all applicable state and federal requirements and would not violate or exacerbate air quality standards or ambient air increments. *Id.* at 229.

On July 14, 2011, the Wisconsin Department of Commerce

– Safety and Buildings conditionally approved OSGC's plan,

noting that the owner was "responsible for compliance with all code requirements." *Id.* at 201.

As the environmental permitting process was proceeding, OSGC submitted detailed site plans and building plans to the City, as required under the City's zoning and building codes.

On August 3, 2011, the City approved those plans and issued a building permit. *Id.* at 200-206, 730-731.

In September 2011, DNR issued permits and approvals under the state's clean air and solid waste laws. *Id.* at 286-327, 618-627. The DNR's formal Environmental Analysis addressed a wide range of potential environmental impacts, including air emissions, *id.* at 231-260, and concluded that approval of the facility was *not* a "major action" and would *not* have significant environmental effects. *Id.* at 253.6

 6 DNR conducted this analysis pursuant to WIS. STAT. § 1.11, which requires all state agencies to consider the environmental impacts of proposed agency actions. *See also* WIS. ADMIN. CODE § NR 150.01(1).

The original DNR permit provided that the generator exhaust stacks would have to be as high as 60 feet above the ground (almost 30 feet above the building roof). *Id.* at 294. After City staff advised OSGC that local zoning ordinances required them to be no higher than 35 feet, OSGC obtained a revised permit from DNR specifying a stack height of 35 feet (approximately 3 feet above the structure's 32-foot high roofline). *Id.* at 339, 342, 347.7

In November 2011, the U.S. Department of Energy ("DOE") published its final Environmental Assessment.⁸ *Id.* at 372-568. The assessment thoroughly evaluated the environmental impact of the facility, including 18 pages of analysis dedicated specifically to air emissions. *Id.* at 422-440.

_

⁷ This reconfiguration of exhaust stacks merely changed the size and shape of the "tailpipe" for the generators; the remainder of the facility's design and operations were unchanged. Cert.Rec. at 339, 342, 347.

⁸ DOE conducted its assessment pursuant to the National Environmental Policy Act ("NEPA"), 42 U.S.C. § 4321, *et seq.* and Council on Environmental Policy NEPA regulations, 40 C.F.R. Parts 1500-1508. R. 25 at 382.

Based on its review, DOE issued a Finding of No Significant Impact. *Id.* at 367-371. DOE concluded not only that "the area's air quality would remain in compliance with current standards," *Id.* at 368, but that the facility would have a positive impact on greenhouse gas emissions because of the reduced traffic of waste to local landfills. *Id.*

With the required approvals in hand, OSGC proceeded with preparatory construction work.

The Opposition Groups Change Tactics.

Throughout this lengthy and very public review process, a variety of groups and individuals opposed to the facility (as well as project supporters) appeared at public meetings hosted by the regulators and spoke against the requested environmental approvals. *Id.* at 262-265, 284-285, 387-389. The project opponents submitted numerous comments to both DNR and the DOE detailing concerns with the facility's alleged environmental impacts. *Id.* at 265-285, 387-388, 548-561. Both agencies

thoughtfully considered these comments and responded to them in writing. *Id*.

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