RECEIVED 10-20-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

ONEIDA SEVEN GENERATIONS
CORPORATION and GREEN

BAY RENEWABLE ENERGY, LLC,

Appeal No. 2013AP000591 Brown County Circuit Court Case No. 2012CV002263

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

CITY OF GREEN BAY,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

On a Petition for Review from a Decision of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals, District III, Reversing an Order of the Circuit Court for Brown County, the Honorable Marc A. Hammer, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER CITY OF GREEN BAY

Ted A. Warpinski (SBN: 1018812) S. Todd Farris (SBN: 1006554)

Christopher M. Meuler (SBN: 1037971)

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CITY'S DECISION TO GRANT, DENY OR REVOKE A CUP IS DISCRETIONARY.

As an initial matter, case law from this State and from other jurisdictions confirms that municipalities maintain discretion in its permitting decisions. They have the authority to revoke a CUP when the

permit is granted based upon material misstatements. This principle is well-accepted as a legal matter and is good policy.

A. A Municipality Has Substantial Discretion to Grant or Deny a CUP Application.

In *Town of Rhine v. Bizzell*, 2008 WI 76, 311 Wis. 2d 1, 751 N.W.2d 780, this Court discussed at length the concept of a conditional use:

In general, zoning ordinances provide landowners with permitted uses, which allow a landowner to use his or her land, in said manner, as of right.... In addition to permitted uses, ordinances may also provide for conditional uses by virtue of a special use or conditional use permit. A conditional use, however, is different than a permitted use. While a permitted use is as of right, a conditional use does not provide that certainty with respect to land use. Conditional uses are for those particular uses that a community recognizes as desirable or necessary but which the community will sanction only in a controlled manner.

A conditional use permit allows a property owner to put his property to a use which the ordinance expressly permits when certain conditions or standards have been met. The degree of specificity of these standards may vary from ordinance to ordinance.

Allowing for conditional uses, in addition to permitted uses as of right, makes sense when one considers the purpose of the conditional use permit. First, conditional uses are flexibility devices, which are designed to cope with situations where a particular use, although not inherently inconsistent with the use classification of a particular zone, may well create special problems and hazards if allowed to develop and locate as a matter of right in a particular zone.

Second, conditional use permits are appropriate for certain uses, considered by the local legislative body to be essential or desirable for the welfare of the community ..., but not at every or any location ... or without conditions being imposed... Thus, those uses subject to a conditional use permit are necessary to the community, but because they often represent uses that may be problematic, *their development is best governed more closely rather than as of right*.

Id. at ¶¶ 19-24 (internal citations and quotations omitted) (emphasis supplied).

The City's Ordinances define a conditional use as a use "which, because of its unique characteristics, cannot be properly classified in a particular district or districts without consideration in each case of the impact of [the] use[] upon neighboring land and of the public need for the particular use at the particular location." §§ 13-302, 13-205(a), City of Green Bay Municipal Code ("Code"). In order to obtain a CUP, a property owner or resident wishing to receive a CUP must file an application with the Planning Department. § 13-205(c)(1), Code. After review and consideration of the application by the Plan Commission, the Plan Commission must forward its recommendation to the Common Council.⁴ §

⁴ The Ordinances demonstrate unequivocally that the Plan Commission's recommendation is not binding on the Common Council. The recommendation is simply that – a nonbinding recommendation. The Plan Commission's recommendation to the Common Council that the information initially submitted and presented by OSGC was adequate for it to make an informed decision whether or not to recommend granting the CUP was therefore only a non-binding recommendation.

13-205(c)(3), Code. For each requested conditional use, the Plan Commission must report to the Common Council its findings and recommendations. § 13-205(d), Code. Conditional use approval may be recommended by the Plan Commission with reasonable consideration of the following:

- (1) The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the conditional use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, or general welfare;
- (2) The establishment of the conditional use will not impede the normal and orderly development and improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district;
- (3) The conditional use, its exterior architectural design, and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be injurious to the use of other property in the immediate vicinity nor substantially diminish or impair property values within the surrounding neighborhood;
- (4) Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or necessary facilities have been or are being provided;
- (5) Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress and so designed as to minimize traffic congestion;
- (6) The conditional use shall have adequate parking facilities as specified in Chapter 13-1700; and
- (7) The conditional use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which it is located and all other applicable City ordinances.

§ 13-205(e), Code.

The bottom line is that a municipality's decision to grant a conditional use permit is discretionary. *Roberts v. Manitowoc County Bd. of Adjustment*, 2006 WI App 169, ¶ 10, 295 Wis. 2d 522, 721 N.W.2d 499. Courts are not permitted to substitute their discretion for that of the municipality. *Id.* (citing *Snyder v. Waukesha County Zoning Bd. of Adjustment*, 74 Wis. 2d 468, 476, 247 N.W.2d 98 (1976)). Instead, courts accord a municipality's decision a presumption of correctness and the party challenging that decision has the burden of overcoming that presumption. *Id.* (citing *Miswald v. Waukesha County Bd. of Adjustment*, 202 Wis. 2d 401, 411, 550 N.W.2d 434 (Ct. App.1996)).

The City, therefore, had substantial discretion to grant or deny the original CUP application. In other words, based on the information originally provided to it by OSGC, the City had the authority to deny the CUP for any number of reasons, including, for example, a concern that the project might be detrimental to health or the general welfare, or might otherwise be injurious to the use of other property. Had the City originally denied the CUP, OSGC would have been hard-pressed to argue that the City had abused its discretion.

B. A Municipality Has the Discretion to Revoke a CUP When the Permit Was Granted Based Upon Material Misstatements.

The Court of Appeals in its *Decision* correctly presumed that "a municipality possesses the authority to revoke a CUP based on misrepresentations made during the permit process." (App. 9, *Decision* at ¶ 18.) The Court of Appeals further recognized that "[t]he decision to revoke a CUP, like the decision to grant one, involves the exercise of a municipality's discretion." (App. 10, *Decision* at ¶ 20) (citing *Roberts*, 2006 WI App 169, ¶ 10). Additional authorities confirm the point:

- Where a party "did not act in good faith in obtaining the permit," he or she does not possess a vested right to insist upon the validity of the permit. *Jelinski v. Eggers*, 34 Wis. 2d 85, 93, 148 N.W.2d 750 (1967).
- "The rights of a permittee are protected only if the permit has been secured and the expenses have been incurred in good faith, and there has been no fraud or deceit or other fault on the part of the applicant." 101A C.J.S. Zoning & Land Planning § 291.

- In *Edling v. Insanti County*, 2006 WL 1806397 (Minn. Ct. App. July 3, 2006) (unpublished), the Minnesota Court of Appeals affirmed a municipality's decision to rescind a CUP because of misrepresentations made by the applicant during the conditional use application process.
- In *Lauer v. Pierce County*, 267 P.3d 988 (Wash. 2011), the Supreme Court of Washington held that the defendants' rights did not vest because their building application contained misrepresentations of material fact.

The Court of Appeals' conclusion that a municipality possesses the authority to revoke a CUP based on misrepresentations made during the permit process is good policy. An applicant has no vested right in a permit that was approved based upon material misstatements that were made during the approval process. In this case, the City properly exercised its discretion when it revoked the permit.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION SHOULD BE REVERSED **BECAUSE** ONCE IT CAME TO THE **ERRONEOUS** CONCLUSION THAT THE CITY HAD **FOR FAILED** TO ARTICULATE RATIONALE REVOCATION, THE **COURT OF APPEALS** WAS REQUIRED TO REMAND FOR FURTHER PROCEEDINGS.

According to the Court of Appeals, the Common Council failed "to articulate any rationale for its revocation decision," (App. 12, *Decision* at ¶ 24,) and the Common Council's findings fail to "identify the supposedly false statements with specificity." (App. 12, *Decision* at ¶ 24.) The Court of Appeals concluded that based on these alleged deficiencies, it could not "trace the City's reasoning because it prematurely stops." (App. 13-14, *Decision* at ¶ 27.) It is difficult to reconcile this statement with the Court of Appeals' subsequent effort to search the record for "substantial evidence"; nevertheless, once it made this finding the Court of Appeals was bound by established precedent to remand the matter. For this reason alone, the Court of Appeals' *Decision* should be reversed.

In certiorari proceedings, where there is a finding that a decisionmaking body failed to adequately explain the rationale for its decision, this Court has consistently required remand to afford municipalities and administrative agencies the opportunity to better explain the rationale for their decisions. For example, in Transamerica Ins. Co. v. DILHR, 54 Wis.

2d 272, 285, 195 N.W.2d 656 (1972), this Court stated as follows:

Trial courts can be expected to reverse department findings and remand for the completion of the record whenever the department rejects the findings of its examiner and makes its own findings involving credibility of witnesses and fails to accompany such reversal and making of its own findings with an opinion stating why it has rejected the facts found by the examiner and why it has made its own and different findings of fact.

Similarly, in *Connecticut Gen. Life Ins. Co. v. DILHR*, 86 Wis. 2d 393, 405, 273 N.W.2d 206 (1979), this Court stated as follows:

Nonetheless, sec 227.10 (and its predecessor sec. 227.13) has been interpreted to require remand when an administrative body has omitted necessary factual findings or when the factual basis of the decision is otherwise uncertain and unclear in cases where the evidence in the record is inconclusive or totally lacking, thus making it impossible for the court to supply the necessary findings on review.

Additionally, in a more recent decision, this Court in *Lamar Central Outdoor*, 2005 WI 117, ¶ 39, stated as follows:

We conclude that the Board did not satisfactorily express its reasons for denying Lamar's application. Our remand will allow the Board to reconsider the facts in the wake of *Ziervogel* and *Waushara County*. We caution that we believe the Board – with or without attorneys – can do a far better job of expressing its reasoning on the record. The Board must allow for meaningful certiorari review by stating the "grounds" for its decision – the reasons that Lamar's application does or does not fit the statutory criteria.

See also Voight v. Washington Island Ferry Line, Inc., 79 Wis. 2d 333, 344, 255 N.W.2d 545 (1977) (remanding to allow the commission to explain its reasoning rather than speculating about the commission's rationale); *City of Appleton v. DILHR*, 67 Wis. 2d 162, 172, 226 N.W.2d 497 (1975) (remanding to allow the commission to set forth reasons, facts, and ultimate conclusions relied upon in rejecting the recommendations of the examiner).

The matter at hand is a certiorari proceeding and the Court of Appeals should have remanded in accordance with the established precedent once it found that the record or the reason for the City's decision was unclear. Instead, the Court of Appeals proceeded to set forth what it understood the City's concerns to be and then discounted them. For example, the Court of Appeals found:

To the extent the City contends Seven Generations lied about the suitability of the char byproduct for re-use, the DNR's environmental analysis states that the char would be landfilled or, if acceptable, "re-used as a beneficial product subject to DNR approval. The char may be suitable for beneficial use as concrete additives, flowable fill material, and aggregate for sub-base of roads and stabilization for landfill cover if it meets certain waste characteristics." Again, we perceive no actionable misrepresentations, and the City's reasoning for deeming these statements false is unclear.

(App. 16, *Decision* at ¶ 32) (emphasis supplied.)

In this regard, the record is clear that OSGC represented that the byproducts from the Facility would contain no hazardous substances and could be used for organic farming. (R.25, 163-64; R.26, AUDIO 1 at 42:27-44:20.) The Court of Appeals, however, focused on whether the byproducts could be used for concrete additives for roads.

Similarly, OSGC expressly represented that the Facility would not emit "hazardous materials." (R.25, 160-61; R.26, AUDIO 1 at 23:20-24:37.) The Court of Appeals, however, focused instead on "exhaust" emitted from the Facility. Exhaust is certainly different than the emission of hazardous materials. The Court of Appeals then dismissed the Common Council's conclusion that a misrepresentation was made:

The City's assertion that Seven Generations promised the facility would produce "no emissions" is wholly unsupported by the record and is unreasonable. Any reasonable person understands that internal combustion engines like those required during the final energy-production stages will produce exhaust.

No reasonable person could conclude, based on Seven Generations' statements, that there would be absolutely no emissions from the facility.

(App. 16-17, *Decision* at $\P\P$ 33-34.)

If this Court agrees with the Court of Appeals' *Decision* that the City failed to adequately articulate its revocation decision, then the case should be remanded to the Common Council to allow the Common Council to

explain in more detail why it rejected the Plan Commission's recommendation and its rationale for its revocation decision.

IN ADDITION, THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION III. **BECAUSE** SHOULD BE REVERSED **SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS** THE CITY'S REVOCATION **DECISION AND** THE **COURT OF** APPEALS INCORRECTLY SUBSTITUTED ITS JUDGMENT FOR THE COUNCIL.

"Substantial evidence means credible, relevant and probative evidence upon which reasonable persons could rely to reach a decision." *Sills v. Walworth County Land Mgmt. Comm.*, 2002 WI App 111, ¶ 11, 254 Wis. 2d 538, 648 N.W.2d 878. It has also been defined as "that quantity and quality of evidence which a reasonable [person] could accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *DeGayner & Co. Inc. v. DNR*, 70 Wis. 2d 936, 940, 236 N.W.2d 217 (1975). The record is replete with "substantial evidence" to support revoking (or sustaining) the permit, much of it articulated by the Circuit Court in its decision upholding the revocation decision.

In reversing the Circuit Court's decision, the Court of Appeals basically concluded that substantial evidence did not exist because it searched the record and found evidence that might provide an explanation for the false and misleading statements ostensibly relied upon by the

Common Council. This review by the Court of Appeals, performed under the auspices of the substantial evidence standard, conflicts with decisions requiring a reviewing court to search the record for evidence to support the Council's decision. The reason for this is simple. The decision to revoke a permit, like the decision to grant, is a discretionary determination, which means that the reviewing court may not substitute its judgment for that of the municipality.

A. The Court of Appeals Improperly Weighed the Evidence and Substituted Its Judgment for the Judgment of the Common Council.

In *Sills*, 2002 WI App 111, the Court of Appeals unequivocally stated that in a certiorari action a reviewing court should not weigh the evidence and that the weight to be accorded to the evidence lies within the discretion of the municipality:

We must uphold the Committee's decision so long as it is supported by substantial evidence, even if there is also substantial evidence to support the opposite conclusion. Substantial evidence means credible, relevant and probative evidence upon which reasonable persons could rely to reach a decision. Finally, the weight to be accorded to the evidence lies within the discretion of the Committee.

Id. (internal citations omitted) (emphasis supplied).

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